COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TORRE J. WOODS, individually,

Appellant,

v.

HO SPORTS COMPANY, INC., a for-profit Washington corporation,

Respondent,

and

MICHAEL E. WOODS, individually,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Nathan R. Roberts, WSBA #40457 Connelly Law Offices 2301 N. 30th Street Tacoma, WA 98403-3322 (253) 593-5100

John R. Connelly, Jr., WSBA #12183 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 18010 Southcenter Parkway Tukwila, WA 98188 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Appellant Torre J. Woods

A. INTRODUCTION

The sphere of the parental immunity doctrine as described by our Supreme Court in *Zellmer v. Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d 147, 188 P.3d 497 (2008), is very limited. This case does not implicate that doctrine because nothing central to the parent-child relationship such as education, supervision, or child rearing is involved here. Rather, this case is a straight forward application of the Supreme Court's opinion in *Merrick v. Sutterlin*, 93 Wn.2d 411, 610 P.2d 891 (1980) where the court held that the parental immunity doctrine was inapplicable where the parent acted outside his parental capacity in a case involving negligent operation of an automobile.

Here, Michael Woods negligently operated a powerful motorized watercraft, rendering his son, Torre Woods, a quadriplegic. The trial court erred when it applied the parental immunity doctrine, immunizing Michael¹ from responsibility for his negligence. Moreover, the doctrine would not immunize Michael from wanton conduct in any event, so at the very least a fact question exists regarding Michael's reckless operation of the watercraft rendering summary judgment unavailable to him.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

(1) Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred in entering its December 7, 2012 order granting partial summary judgment to Michael on parental immunity.
- 2. The trial court erred in entering its December 21, 2012 order denying Torre's motion for reconsideration and in striking certain evidence.

(2) <u>Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error</u>

Where a parent negligently or wantonly operates a motorized watercraft resulting in severe personal injuries to his or her child, is that parent immune from an action for negligence under Washington law? (Assignments of Error Numbers 1, 2).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a boating accident that occurred on Tiger Lake in Mason County in July 2010. CP 4-5, 11, 188. The facts are not in dispute. Michael Woods was operating his 240-horsepower SugarSand® jet boat on the lake, towing his son Torre and two other teenage boys behind the jet boat in an inflatable tube designed and manufactured by HO Sports Company ("HO Sports"). CP 4-5, 11, 29, 188-89. Michael Woods was towing the tube at a speed of 30 miles per hour. That speed greatly exceeded the limits imposed by its manufacturer; HO Sports advised users that the tube should not be used at any speed greater than 15 m.p.h. for

¹ The parties were referenced by their first names for ease of identification.

kids ("Boat speeds should never exceed . . . 15 m.p.h. for children."). CP 3, 42, 168, 183.

HO Sports also advised users: "Watercraft driver should avoid excessive speed or sharp turns which might cause the tube to flip over abruptly resulting in serious injury to the rider."). CP 183. Michael acknowledged that he cut across the Jet Boat wake when Torre was injured. CP 42, 44. The tube crossed the wake ejecting all three boys from the tube. CP 189. One of Torre's companions landed on Torre. CP 189. The impact broke Torre's neck, rendering him a quadriplegic. CP 1, 5, 23, 189. Michael Woods later admitted that the accident would have been avoided had he been operating the boat at a slower speed:

- Q. Do you think you could have prevented this incident by operating the boat at a lower speed?
- A. Probably. Yes.

CP 43-44.

Michael was not supervising, disciplining or otherwise engaging in Torre's upbringing when Torre was injured.

Torre filed suit in the Pierce County Superior Court against his father, in part to trigger coverage by his father's insurance carrier, Safeco.

CP 1, 8, 34; RP (12-7-12) at 8, 13-14.² The case was assigned to the Honorable John R. Hickman. *See* RP (12-7-12) at 1. Safeco appointed counsel for Michael. CP 35.³ Michael filed a motion for summary judgment in the trial court on the basis of parental immunity. CP 21-27. The trial court granted Michael's motion, CP 164, and denied Torre's subsequent motion for reconsideration. CP 234-35. The court certified its parental immunity rulings under RAP 2.3(b)(4) and struck certain evidence⁴ that Torre presented with his motion for reconsideration. CP 235. Torre filed a timely notice for discretionary review, CP 236, and, upon the filing of Torre's motion for discretionary review, this Court's Commissioner granted review.

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The parental immunity doctrine is discredited in courts around the United States, but has limited vitality in Washington, confined to situations involving the actual supervision or upbringing of a child. Washington recognizes numerous exceptions to the doctrine.

² Torre's reference to his father's insurer is appropriate because some courts have found the presence of liability insurance to negate the need for parental immunity. *See infra*.

³ Safeco's appointed counsel for Michael has since withdrawn.

⁴ The court struck the 12-13-12 declaration of Logan Earles and Ex. 3 to Torre's counsel's declaration, which contained the declarations pages from Michael's homeowner's policy with Safeco Insurance Co. CP 185-89, 235.

This case, like *Borst v. Borst*, 41 Wn.2d 642, 251 P.2d 149 (1952) or *Merrick*, involves nothing more than parental negligence in the operation of a motorized craft. Just like the operation of a truck in *Borst* or a car in *Merrick*, the negligent operation of a watercraft subjects a parent to liability of a child. That Michael's conduct bore no relationship to the core parental-child relationship is evidenced by the fact that it was a tragic fortuity that Torre was injured by Michael's negligence instead of his two friends who accompanied him on the tube; there is little question that Michael would have been liable to either of those boys, had they been injured, for his negligence.

Alternatively, even if Michael's operation of the watercraft were in his parental capacity, his conduct was arguably wanton and the immunity is unavailable to him.

The trial court abused its discretion in denying the admission of evidence on reconsideration, evidence that clarified information submitted on summary judgment.

E. ARGUMENT⁵

(1) The Parental Immunity Doctrine

⁵ As the parental immunity issue was resolved on summary judgment, the trial court was obligated to consider the facts, and reasonable inferences from those facts, in a light most favorable to Torre as the non-moving party. *Elcon Constr., Inc. v. Eastern Wash. Univ.,* 174 Wn.2d 157, 164, 273 P.3d 965 (2012). This Court reviews the trial court's decision de novo. *Id.*

The parental immunity doctrine did not exist at common law. It is a judicially-created doctrine that got its impetus from several state court decisions including an 1891 Mississippi Supreme Court decision, Hewellette v. George, 9 So. 885 (Miss. 1891) where, without any analysis, the court held that a parent was immune to a false imprisonment claim brought by a child placed in an insane asylum.⁶ Numerous courts around the United States have abrogated the doctrine entirely in recent years. Indeed, the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 895G (1), rejects the doctrine, stating: "A parent or child is not immune from tort liability to the other solely by reason of that relationship." The Restatement's Reporter's Notes indicates that 17 jurisdictions adhere to this view. Similarly, many of the states recognizing the doctrine have also recognized exceptions to it. A number of courts have held that the parental immunity doctrine does not prevent an action by a child against a representative of a deceased parent. See Jilani By and Through Jilani v. Jilani, 767 S.W.2d 671, 672 (Tex. 1988) (collecting cases so stating). Another exception to the doctrine recognized by some courts arises when the parent's actions constitute an intentional tort. Id. Also, parental immunity does not bar claims predicated on legal duties other than negligence duties, such as contract or

⁶ The Mississippi Supreme Court subsequently abandoned the parental immunity doctrine in *Glaskox By and Through Denton v. Glaskox*, 614 So.2d 906, 907 (Miss. 1992).

property rights. *Id.*, *Sepaugh v. LaGrone*, 300 S.W.3d 328, 334 (Tex. App. 2009), *review denied* (2011). *See Ascuitto v. Farricielli*, 711 A.2d 708, 719-20 (Conn. 1998) (detailing treatment of parental immunity doctrine by the states); *Szollosy v. Hyatt Corp.*, 396 F. Supp.2d 147, 155-57 (D. Conn. 2005) (detailing treatment of the doctrine, asserting that 27 jurisdictions have abolished the doctrine and that the doctrine is "edging toward disrespute."); *Frye v. Frye*, 505 A.2d 826, 840-49 (Md. 1986) (appendix discussing how each of the 50 states treats parental immunity).

Many states besides Washington recognize an exception for parental operation of a motor vehicle. *See Jilani*, 767 S.W.2d at 673 n.1 (listing 30 states that allow a suit by an unemancipated child against a parent for automobile negligence); *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kim*, 829 A.2d 611 (Md. 2003) (noting that by 1994 the parental immunity doctrine had either been abrogated altogether or made inapplicable to motor torts in most of the States that had ever adopted it, and thus 43 jurisdictions permitted suits between parents and children for motor torts).

The parental immunity doctrine was adopted in Washington over one hundred years ago in *Roller v. Roller*, 37 Wash. 242, 79 P. 788 (1905), overruled by Borst v. Borst, 41 Wn.2d 642, 251 P.2d 149 (1952).⁷ The

⁷ The doctrine was established on utterly outrageous facts in *Roller* where the Court immunized from liability a parent who incestuously attacked his daughter.

doctrine barred suits by minor children against their parents, in deference to the "interest that society has in preserving harmony in the domestic relations[.]" *Roller*, 37 Wash. at 243. Thus, the core of the doctrine centers on parental supervision and upbringing of a child.

Our Supreme Court has retreated from a universal rule, allowing suits where the parent is acting outside of his or her parental capacity, or where there is liability insurance. In *Borst*, for example, the parent was using a truck and trailer for a business purpose when he ran over his son who was playing in the street. The court concluded the parent was not immune because any immunity disappeared when the parent was "dealing with the child in a nonparental transaction." *Id.* at 657. Recently, our Supreme Court in *Zellmer* specifically noted that the doctrine was inapplicable to intentional wrongful conduct. 164 Wn.2d at 155, 157.

Washington courts continue to recognize parental immunity only in cases involving parental supervision or upbringing of the child. See, e.g., Jenkins v. Snohomish County P.U.D. No. 1, 105 Wn.2d 99, 713 P.2d 79 (1986) (disallowing contribution claim where parents allowed child to wander free in neighborhood; child electrocuted at utility power station); Talarico v. Foremost Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 114, 712 P.2d 294 (1986) (disallowing negligent supervision claim where parent started backyard fire then left three-year-old son unattended, resulting in severe burns to

child); Zellmer, supra (minor child drowned while the stepfather negligently supervised her).⁸ But this is not a case involving improper supervision or the disciplining or upbringing of a child. It is a straightforward case of a parent acting in a nonparental capacity, negligently operating a motorized craft.

Our Supreme Court in *Merrick* recognized an explicit exception to the doctrine when the parent is negligently operating a motor vehicle, stating:

An absolute abrogation of the doctrine of parent-child immunity is not before the court. We have examined every case dealing with the issue. We recognize that there may be situations of parental authority and discretion which should not lead to liability. Several courts, such as Wisconsin and California, have attempted to put forth an all-encompassing rule to deal with these situations. We believe that the better approach is to develop the details of any portions of the immunity that should be retained by a case-to-case determination.

In this case we simply hold that a minor child injured by the negligence of a parent in an automobile accident has a cause of action against that parent. The other issues of parent-child immunity are reserved for further determination.

93 Wn.2d at 416. See generally, Frederick W. Grimm, Tort-Parental Immunity-Merrick v. Sutterlin, 93 Wn.2d 411, 610 P.2d 891 (1980), 56

⁸ Although the *Zellmer* majority declined to overrule the doctrine, *id.* at 159, a three-justice concurrence urged a narrow interpretation of the rule: "We should recognize the weak rationale underlying the doctrine and the trend here and in other jurisdictions to limit its application." *Id.* at 172.

Wash. L. Rev. 319 (1981) (advocating abrogation of parental immunity doctrine in light of *Merrick*).

(2) The Parental Immunity Doctrine Does Not Apply Here

(a) <u>Michael Acted in a Nonparental Capacity in Negligently Operating a Motorized Watercraft</u>

The trial court here erred in applying the parental immunity doctrine on these facts because this is decidedly not a parental supervision case. In this case, none of the ostensible public policy reasons underlying the parental immunity doctrine apply because Michael was not in the process of "disciplining," "educating," or "supervising" Torre. Michael was acting in a nonparental capacity when he was driving a power boat at the time of the collision. Driving is not parenting any more than operating a motor vehicle was parenting in *Merrick*, and Michael therefore owed the same legal duty to Torre *that he owed to the other two occupants of the tube*. When driving, whether it be a car or a boat, a parent "owes a child the same duty of reasonable care applicable to the world at large, and may be held liable notwithstanding the parent/child relationship." *Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d at 155; *see also*, *Merrick*, *supra*.

Moreover, the trial court erroneously concluded that the failure to apply the doctrine would be an "extension" of the motor vehicle exception:

The question really is whether or not the motor vehicle extension—or motor vehicle exception should be extended to a boat or some other type of watercraft, and I am not going to do that. I'm going to – despite the sympathy that I have for this family, there's no case precedent that I know of that would extend the definition of a motor vehicle out into a recreational activity, commonly called "tubing," behind a boat. And I could be absolutely wrong on this, but because of the lack of any case law that would extend that definition to a boat or a watercraft, I feel compelled to – I don't feel I have sufficient grounds to extend it. And maybe the Court of Appeals or some other higher court will disagree with me, but with all due respect, I'm not going to make that extension of the definition of a motor vehicle and will grant the summary judgment.

RP (12-7-12) at 17. The trial court was simply wrong in its assertion that an "extension" of the doctrine is implicated on these facts.⁹

Negligent operation of a motorized watercraft is no different than negligent operation of other motorized vehicles such as a truck (*Borst*) or a car (*Merrick*). Operation of a motorized watercraft is subject to rules that have a direct counterpart to rules governing the operation of motor vehicles. For example, just to itemize a few of the parallel requirements, a person operating a motorized watercraft must have a "boater education card" that is akin to a driver's license. RCW 79A.60.630. Rules of the road are akin to the rules for safe operation of a motorized watercraft. RCW 79A.60.190. Operators of motorized watercraft are subject to

⁹ Winn v. Gilroy, 681 P.2d 776, 785 (Or. 1984) (noting that automobile accidents are no different than "mishaps involving boats, tractors, motorcycles,

penalties for their negligent operation. RCW 79A.60.030. The law punishes "boating under the influence" as it does DUI and related offenses. RCW 79A.60.040, .050, and .060. A watercraft operator must stop for law enforcement officers, RCW 79A.60.070, and is guilty of eluding if it does not. RCW 79A.60.080. An operator of a motorized watercraft must file an accident report if a boating accident occurs. RCW 79A.60.200-.210. *See also*, WAC 352-70. Water skiing is specifically regulated. RCW 79A.60.170.

Michael strove below to contrive a recreational activity aspect to parental immunity when no such basis to the rule is present. Our Supreme Court in Borst, Merrick, and Zellmer clearly indicated that the doctrine protects core parental functions of supervision and upbringing of a child. Such activities as discipline, education, or supervision of a child come within the doctrine's ambit. While a parent would be immune from a child's suit complaining that the parent deprived him of an opportunity to have a certain recreational opportunity, the parent is not immune from suit for injuring a child while driving a power boat any more than a parent is

machinery, or other instruments if the manner of their use would be negligent by the standards a person is bound to maintain toward the world at large").

immune from injuring a child while operating a motor vehicle. *Merrick*;

Borst.¹⁰

Bluntly put, Michael hopes to persuade this Court that the only exception to the parental immunity is for negligent automobile operation or that there is a "recreational exception" to Merrick. Neither is true. The Merrick court stated that parental immunity should be evaluated on a case-93 Wn.2d at 416. Recreational activities should be by-case basis. evaluated in the proper context: does the action involve core parental child-rearing responsibilities? See Borst, 41 Wn.2d at 656. Michael's activities were straightforward negligence, as in Borst or Merrick, that would have subjected him to liability to Torre's companions had they been injured instead of Torre. This is why our Supreme Court in Zellmer noted that while driving, making no distinction as to whether it was a car, truck, or power boat, a parent "owes a child the same duty of reasonable care applicable to the world at large, and may be held liable notwithstanding the parent/child relationship." 164 Wn.2d at 155.

(b) Michael's Conduct Was Wanton

To adopt Michael's position on this issue would mean that a child as in *Merrick*, injured by parental negligence in the operation of a car, would have no claim merely if the parent were driving the child to a Mariners' game or on a trip. *Merrick* recognized no such limit.

Alternatively, even if Michael's conduct can be properly characterized as engaging in a "family recreational activity," and the Court determines it is part of the core parental function, summary judgment was still improperly granted in this case. Our Supreme Court has held, "Even when acting in a parental capacity, a parent who abdicates his or her parental responsibilities by engaging in willful or wanton misconduct is not immune from suit." *Id.* at 155. Whether a defendant's conduct is "wanton" is "a question of fact to be submitted to the jury under proper instructions." *Adkisson v. City of Seattle*, 42 Wn.2d 676, 688, 258 P.2d 461 (1953).¹¹

Our Supreme Court has defined "wanton misconduct" as "the intentional doing of an act . . . in reckless disregard of the consequences, and under such surrounding circumstances and conditions that a reasonable man would know, or have reason to know, that such conduct would, in a high degree of probability, result in substantial harm to another." *Adkisson*, 42 Wn.2d at 687. Further, in describing recklessness, for purposes of the wantonness inquiry, our Supreme Court quoted the *Restatement of Torts*, explaining:

See also, Rodriguez v. City of Moses Lake, 158 Wn. App. 724, 731, 243 P.3d 552 (2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1025 (2011) (willful or wanton conduct is not a separate cause of action, but a level of intent which negates certain defenses which might be available in a negligence action).

In order that the actor's conduct may be reckless, it is not necessary that he himself recognize it as being extremely dangerous. His inability to realize the danger may be due to his own reckless temperament or to the abnormally favorable results of previous conduct of the same sort. It is enough that he knows or has reason to know of circumstances which would bring home to the realization of the ordinary, reasonable man the highly dangerous character of his conduct.

Adkisson, 42 Wn.2d at 686 (emphasis added; quotation marks omitted).

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