44346-5-11 NO. 44346-H (Pierce County Cause No. 12-2-08809-3)

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TORRE J. WOODS, individually,

Appellant,

v.

HO SPORTS COMPANY, INC., a for-profit Washington corporation,

Respondent,

and

MICHAEL E. WOODS, individually,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT HO SPORTS COMPANY, I

Thomas R. Merrick, WSBA #10945 David S. Cottnair, WSBA #28206 Nicholas G. Thomas, WSBA #42154 Attorneys for Respondent HO Sports Company, Inc.

MERRICK, HOFSTEDT & LINDSEY, P.S.

3101 Western Ave., Suite 200

Seattle, WA 98121

Telephone: (206) 682-0610 Facsimile: (206) 467-2689

COURT OF APPEALS
2013 MAY 17 PM 1: 34

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

¹⁰ Accordingly, pursuant to RAP 9.12, Respondent HO Sports hereby moves to strike argument Section "E.(2)(b)" from Appellant's brief.

his motion for reconsideration;¹¹ instead, he clarified the three bases on which that motion hinged had nothing to do with whether Michael Woods' actions rose to the level of willful or wanton misconduct under the parental immunity doctrine. RP 12-21-12 at 2-3; CP 167-174, 228-233. The issue is not properly before this Court and should not be considered. RAP 9.12.

Additionally, "RAP 2.5(a) states the general rule for appellate disposition of issues not raised in the trial court: appellate courts will not entertain them." *State v. Scotte*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Entertaining issues and arguments for the first time on appeal is strongly disfavored because, *inter alia*, "opposing parties should have an opportunity ... to respond to possible claims of error, and to shape their cases to issues and theories, at the trial level, rather than facing newly-asserted error or new theories and issues for the first time on appeal." Tegland, 2A Wash. Prac., Rules Practice RAP 2.5 (7th ed. 2011). As shown above, Petitioner simply did not provide the trial court with legitimate notice, facts, or argument concerning the purported "wanton"

¹¹ HO Sports notes the trial court's statement that: "The court does not find that the father's conduct was willful or wanton, as the courts have found in other cases that have allowed this immunity to be pierced." RP 12-21-12 at 15. However, a simple review of the December 21, 2012 transcript reveals that this statement was dicta and not a finding pursuant to any argument or issue raised as to whether Michael Woods' misconduct was "willful or wanton," as Torre Woods did not raise any such issue or argument.

misconduct" issue he now asserts. Accordingly, the issue could not be part of the trial court's ruling on Michael Woods' motion or its certification to this Court pursuant to RAP 2.3(b)(4).

In sum, a review of the record relevant to the summary judgment order shows that, prior to this appeal, Torre Woods did not argue nor did he have any intention of arguing that Michael Woods' conduct constituted "wanton misconduct" under the parental immunity doctrine. This is confirmed by Torre Woods' Complaint, which establishes the only species of parental misconduct advanced against his father is "Negligence." Thus, the trial court did not commit reversible error in failing to find sufficient facts supporting "wanton misconduct" when Appellant put nothing concerning that issue before it. *Davis v. Globe Mach. Mfg. Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 68, 684 P.2d 692 (1984) ("A party cannot properly seek review of an alleged error which the party invited."). Indeed, based on the foregoing, Appellant's argument that Michael Woods' conduct was "wanton" should not be considered as part of this appeal. RAP 9.12; *see also* RAP 2.5(a).

(3) No jury issue exists as to whether Michael Woods' actions constitute "wanton misconduct."

Because "[t]here is nothing in law so elusive as defining and applying degrees of fault, whether the doctrine of wanton misconduct does

or does not apply is a question of law for the court." *Mendenhall v. Siegel*, 1 Wn. App. 263, 267 (1969). Whether a jury question exists on the question of wanton misconduct depends on the record, *Evans v. Miller*, 8 Wn. App. 364, 367-368 (1973), and Appellant flatly misstates the law in arguing "whether a defendant's conduct is 'wanton' is 'a question of fact to be submitted to the jury under proper instructions." Brief of Appellant at 14. Indeed, reading in context the language from *Adkisson* that Appellant provides shows the court found a jury question in that case *because of the record before it.* The issue of wanton misconduct does not go to the jury simply because it is raised.

Despite failing to brief or argue the "wanton misconduct" issue for the trial court's consideration, Appellant contends the trial court erred in granting summary judgment because there were facts before it that

When we consider, from plaintiffs' testimony, that west Roxbury was the most heavily traveled arterial in that area; that westbound traffic proceeded over the blacktop; that there was a long downgrade in approaching the obstruction from the east; that the north lane of the road between Thirty-first southwest and Thirty-second southwest was completely obstructed to travelers going westerly; and that, during the very evening after the work was completed, several drivers, headed westward, narrowly escaped running into the obstruction and were required to swerve to the left onto the concrete, we feel that whether or not the conduct of the defendants was wanton was a question of fact to be submitted to the jury under proper instructions."

Adkisson, 42 Wn.2d at 688 (emphasis added).

¹² The quote on which Appellant relies comes from the following discussion:

Michael Woods exceeded the GTX's on-product warnings concerning tow speed. *See* Appellant Brief at 14-16. Ironically, these are the same warnings that form the basis of Appellant's WPLA failure to warn claim against Respondent HO Sports. CP 6 (¶ 23). Petitioner's inherently conflicting positions notwithstanding, the facts and evidence before the trial court were not sufficient to create a jury issue on whether Michael Woods' conduct was "wanton" under relevant Washington law.

"[A] parent who abdicates his or her parental responsibilities by engaging in willful or wanton misconduct is not immune from suit" via the parental immunity doctrine. *Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d at 155. Recently, and in the context of the parental immunity doctrine, our Supreme Court defined "willful and wanton misconduct" in the following way: "[w]illful [misconduct]' requires a showing of actual intent to harm, while 'wanton' infers such intent from reckless conduct." *Id.* at 155 n.2.¹³

The definition Appellant provides from *Adkisson v. City of Seattle*, is but a snapshot of the definition set forth our Supreme Court in that case. The *Adkisson* court's full definition provides:

While providing the operative definition in the parental immunity context, our Supreme Court cited to two cases. One, *Hoffman v. Tracy*, involved an injury resulting from the parent's driving while intoxicated. 67 Wn.2d 31, 406 P.2d 323 (1965). The other, *Livingston v. Everett*, involved a parent leaving her small child unattended in a small room with two "large and active" Doberman pinschers. 50 Wn. App. 655, 660, 751 P.2d 1199 (1988).

Wanton misconduct is not negligence, since it involves intent rather than inadvertence, and is positive rather than negative. It is the intentional doing of an act, or intentional failure to do an act, in reckless disregard of the consequences, and under such surrounding circumstances and conditions that a reasonable man would know, or have reason to know, that such conduct would, in a high degree of probability, result in substantial harm to another.

Adkisson v. Seattle, 42 Wn.2d 676, 682-83, 687 (1953). Thus, to establish an issue as to "wanton misconduct," there must be sufficient evidence supporting that Michael Woods intentionally acted with such reckless disregard for the consequences that one may fairly infer the intent to harm from his conduct. See Zellmer, 164 Wn.2d at 155 n.2; Adkisson, 42 Wn.2d 676, 687.

Here, the facts and evidence are insufficient to create any jury issue concerning "wanton misconduct" on Michael Woods' part. While HO Sports does not condone failures to follow its on-product warnings, Mr. Woods' failure to do so here is nothing beyond ordinary negligence of which his son's injury was a foreseeable – rather than an inferably intended – result. ¹⁴ *Zellmer*, at 155 n.2. Notably, there are no facts or evidence in the record suggesting Michael Woods intentionally exceeded the warning speed. Further, Michael Woods testified he had previously

¹⁴ In his brief, Appellant appears to agree with this assessment. *See* Brief of Appellant at 5 ("This case ... involves nothing more than parental negligence"), and 13 ("Here, Michael's activities were straightforward negligence").

taken Torre Woods tubing on numerous occasions. *See* CP 29. Thus, Michael Woods knew well Torre Woods' comfort-level as a rider and presented uncontroverted testimony that he "was *always* careful to operate the boat at a speed Torre was comfortable with." CP 29 (emphasis added). The trial court was not presented with facts or evidence distinguishing this tube ride, in the moments leading up to the accident, from previous rides Michael Woods gave his son. Accordingly, there was nothing before the trial court indicating "Michael kn[e]w, or ha[d] reason to know, that [his] conduct would, in a high degree of probability, result in substantial harm to another." *Adkisson v. City of Seattle*, 42 Wn.2d 676, 688, 258 P.2d 461 (1953).

Evidence that the tube traveled over a wake likewise does nothing to take this case outside the ambit of simple negligence. Wakes have existed on bodies of water for as long as people have been tubing; the risk of traveling over a wake is inherent in the activity. The trial court was not presented facts or evidence that Michael Woods sought to enhance these risks by intentionally directing the boys at the wake in an attempt to provide a rough ride and shake them off the tube (a common practice in tubing). And unlike the intoxicated parent in *Hoffman*, there is no evidence that Michael Woods was under the influence of any substance while towing the boys on the tube. *See* footnote # 13, *supra*.

Finally, that Woods' conduct was not wanton is further supported by the fact that Washington courts have found parental immunity in cases involving conduct far more egregious. See, e.g., Talarico, 105 Wn.2d 114 (parental immunity doctrine applied where parent started backyard fire then left three-year-old son unattended, resulting in severe burns); Baughn, 105 Wn.2d at 119 (disallowing manufacturer's contribution claim because of parental immunity where parents allowed sight-impaired child to ride motorbike resulting in fatal crash); Delay v. Delay, 54 Wn.2d 63, 337 P.2d 1057 (1959) (disallowing negligence action against parent who instructed child to siphon gas, resulting in burn injuries). See also Ball v. Ball, 269 P.2d 302, 314 (Wyo. 1954) (parental immunity applied where pilot father, aware of distance to be traveled, failed to sufficiently fuel airplane causing crash that severely injured son). Moreover, the conduct at issue here is also less egregious than that present in parental immunity cases where willful and wanton misconduct have been found. See Hoffman, 67 Wn.2d 31; Livingston, 50 Wn. App. at 660.

In sum, the facts before the trial court, taken in a light most favorable to Torre Woods, simply do not create a jury issue as to "wanton misconduct" under *Zellmer* or *Adkisson*. There is no error; summary judgment was properly granted. Petitioner's contention to the contrary rings hollow.

D. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Excluding Irrelevant Evidence Torre Woods Failed To Submit As Part Of His Summary Judgment Opposition.

"Motions for reconsideration are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court; a reviewing court will not reverse a trial court's ruling absent a showing of manifest abuse of that discretion." *Wagner Dev. v. Fidelity & Deposit*, 95 Wn. App. 896, 906 (1999) (citing *Perry v. Hamilton*, 51 Wn. App. 936, 938, 756 P.2d 150 (1988)). A trial court abuses its discretion when it exercises it in a manifestly unreasonable manner or bases it upon untenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1008, 118 S. Ct. 1193, 140 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1998).

"Motions for reconsideration and the taking of additional evidence ... are within the discretion of the trial court." *Chen v. State*, 86 Wn. App. 183, 192 (1997). However, a motion to reconsider a summary judgment and to take additional evidence is properly denied if the evidence sought to be presented is merely cumulative of evidence previously considered by the trial court. *Id.* Moreover, "summary judgment hearing[s] afford the parties ample opportunity to present evidence. If the evidence was available but not offered until after that opportunity passes, the parties are not entitled to another opportunity to submit that evidence." *Wagner Dev.*, 95 Wn. App. at 907.

Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the Earles declaration and the Safeco insurance information because these materials unquestionably could have been submitted in opposition to Michael Woods' summary judgment motion but were not. *See id.* Moreover, the Earles declaration was not relevant to the ruling on reconsideration. Finally, evidence of Michael Woods' insurance coverage was likewise irrelevant because Washington is not a state that ignores parental immunity when the parent has liability insurance, and *Borst* does not hold otherwise.

(1) Earles Declaration.

Petitioner's argument – that the Earle declaration "bolstered the notion of Michael Woods' reckless and wanton conduct" and, thus, should have been considered, Brief of Appellant at 19 – once again ignores that Torre Woods did not argue Michael Woods' "wanton" conduct to the trial court. See Argument Section "C." supra. The trial court granted summary judgment because it determined the automobile accident exception to the parental immunity doctrine created by Merrick, did not

¹⁵ Accordingly, pursuant to RAP 9.12, Respondent H.O. Sports hereby moves to strike Argument Section "(E)(3)(a)" from Petitioner's brief. *See also Richter v. Trimberger*, 50 Wn. App. 780, 786 (1988) (Appellant "submitted the letter for the first time in his motion for reconsideration. Because the trial court could not on reconsideration consider new evidence that could have been discovered prior to the trial court's ruling, appellant's argument of conditional tender and the evidence to support it is not properly before this court.").

apply "to a boat or some other type of watercraft." CP 225. *This* is the ruling Torre Woods moved the trial court to reconsider, and it had nothing to do with the "wanton misconduct" Torre Woods now alleges. *See* CP 167-174, 228-233.

Even if "wanton misconduct" had been argued to the trial court, Petitioner greatly overstates the Earle declaration's value vis-à-vis the issue. As a threshold matter, instead of arguing the Earles declaration supported Michael Woods acted "wantonly," Torre Woods conceded to the trial court that "from a technical standpoint [the Earles Declaration] may not influence this Court's determination one way or the other." CP 229-30. This is because the bulk of Mr. Earles' declaration does not pertain to Michael Woods, and the only non-cumulative 16 information concerning Michael Woods' conduct is that Mr. Earles "believe[s] th[e] incident would not have occurred if Mike Woods had been towing the tube at a slower, safer speed, or in a safer manner." CP 187-90 (emphasis added). But unless Mr. Earles holds some expertise regarding marine accidents, what he "believes" caused Torre Woods' accident is inadmissible under ER 701 and, thus, was not properly before the court on reconsideration. See, e.g., State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 594, 183

¹⁶ Indeed, a simple review of Torre Woods' motion for reconsideration shows the motion was a simple re-hashing of his argument that *Merrick* applies to the operation of a boat. *See Chen, supra* at 192.

P.3d 267 (2008) (holding lay witness expression of observation-based "belief" not admissible under ER 701).¹⁷

Finally, the trial court's decision to exclude the Earles declaration was squarely within its discretion. As Michael Woods correctly pointed out to the trial court in moving to strike, the Earles declaration was untimely, CP 199, and Torre Woods failed to provide any explanation as to why it was not submitted in opposition to Michael Woods' summary judgment motion. CP 198. The trial court's decision to exclude the declaration can be upheld for this reason alone. *See*, *e.g.*, *Go2net*, *Inc. v*. *C I Host*, *Inc.*, 115 Wn. App. 73, 89 (2003) (finding "no abuse of discretion where the trial court refuse[d] to consider an untimely affidavit" in the summary judgment context); *Prof'l Marine v. Certain Underwriters*, 118 Wn. App. 694, 707 (2003) ("We grant the respondents' motion to strike Karson's declaration and do not consider it, because Lloyd's provides no reason that his declaration could not have been obtained earlier.").

In sum, to the extent a trial court may, at its discretion, take additional evidence in considering a motion for reconsideration, does not mean it is required to do so. *Wagner Dev.*, *supra* at 907. Here, the trial

¹⁷ Notably, Torre Woods has not identified Mr. Earles as one of his expert witnesses.

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